IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TERRY P. SANDERS, Appellant,

v.

SC05-2115 Lower Case No. 2D04-2046

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN Public Defender Tenth Judicial Circuit KIMBERLY NOLEN HOPKINS Special Assistant Public Defender Fla. Bar. No. 0986682 P.O. Box 9000 – Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 863-534-4200

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF CASE

Mr. Sanders was charged by Information with one count of attempted murder in the first degree for the alleged shooting of a firearm resulting in great bodily harm to David Snow, in violation of Sections 782.04(1). 777.04 and 775.087(2), Fla. Stat., and one count of felon in possession of a firearm, in violation of Sections (Vol. I, pp. 17-18). This matter went to trial solely on the count of attempted first degree murder. Following a jury trial held February 23-24, 2004, the jury found Mr. Sanders guilty of the lesser offense of attempted second degree murder, with a firearm (discharging firearm and inflicting great bodily harm). (Vol. I, pp. 80-81). A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on April 23, 2004. (Vol. I, pp. 125-128).

Prior to trial, the State filed both a Notice that Defendant be Treated as a Violent Career Criminal Pursuant to Section 775.084(1)(c), Fla. Stat., and a Notice that Defendant be Treated as an Habitual Felony/Habitual Violent Felony Offender. (Vol. I, pp. 32-33). On February 20, 2004, the State also filed a Notice of Intent to Seek Enhanced Sentence on the grounds that Mr. Sanders qualified as both an habitual felony offender and an habitual violent felony offender. (Vol. I, p. 53).

The applicable sentencing guidelines scoresheet gave Mr. Sanders a total of 182.1 points, resulting in the lowest permissible prison sentence of

iv

115.575 months. (Vol. I, 112-114). However, on March 31, 2004, Mr. Sanders was sentenced to a term of natural life pursuant to the 10-20-life statute and was adjudicated an habitual felony offender. (Vol. I, pp. 115-122).

On appeal to the Second District Court of Appeal, Appellant challenged the sufficiency of the evidence and the application of the 10-20-Life statute to his case. In <u>Sanders v. State</u>, 912 So. 2d 1286 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005), the Second District affirmed Appellant's conviction and sentence, but certified the following question to this Court as a question of great public importance:

IN ORDER FOR AN OFFENSE TO BE A LESSER-INCLUDED OFFENSE, MUST IT NECESSARILY RESULT IN A LESSER PENALTY THAN EITHER THE PENALTY FOR THE MAIN OFFENSE OR THE NEXT GREATER OFFENSE ON THE VERDICT FORM?

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On May 16, 2002, Mr. Sanders went to an establishment called Club Turbulence in Ybor City. Tiffany Gainous, Everell Forbes and Doland were also present at Club Turbulence that evening, all three known to Mr. Sanders. At some point in the evening, Mr. Forbes and Mr. Doland were forcibly ejected from the Club by the bouncers and a brief scuffle ensued. (Vol. III, p. 197, 217, 232).

Later in the evening, after the Club had closed, Forbes, Doland and Sanders returned to the Club to complain about the treatment they received from the bouncers earlier. These three individuals were standing at the entrance talking to David Snow, a bouncer, about their complaints. (Vol. III, pp. 197-199, 232). Mr. Doland stepped inside the Club, but was then asked to leave. (Vol. III, p. 210, 217-218, 232-233). After Mr. Doland exited the Club, David Snow saw a gun and turned and ran back into the Club. (Vol. III, p. 200). He did not see the actual shots fired. (Vol. III, p. 211). It was not until someone else noticed he was bleeding that Mr. Snow realized he had been shot. (Vol. III, p. 201).

Snow was treated at the hospital and released within three hours. The bullet had gone straight through his leg. (Vol. III, p. 201-202).

vi

Just prior to the shooting, Officer Schurig was responding to a call of a disturbance at Club Turbulence. (Vol. IV, p. 282). He witnessed the shooting and then pursued the three individuals who had been outside the Club. (Vol. IV, p. 283-284). Two of the suspects entered a minivan which was pursued by Air Services. (Vol. IV, pp. 285-286, 296-298). Officer Schurig identified Mr. Sanders in court as the shooter. (Vol. IV, p. 289). However, Officer Schurig also admitted he only saw the shooter from behind. (Vol. IV, p. 292). The minivan was driven by Tiffany Gainous and when she was pulled over she was the only person in the vehicle. (Vol.. IV, p. 280).

Eventually, Mr. Sanders was developed as a suspect. However, David Snow could not pick him out of a photographic lineup of five individuals. (Vol. III, pp. 202-203, 212, 260). It was only when he was shown a single photograph that he made an identification. (Vol. III, p. 203, 213). According to Mr. Snow, the individual he identified from the single photograph was the one who came into the Club, who was told to leave and who was one of the people who had been ejected from the club earlier in the evening. (Vol. III, p. 203, 206-207, 214). Snow identified Mr. Sanders in the courtroom as the individual he identified from the single photograph. (Vol. III, p. 204).

vii

Two other bouncers identified Mr. Sanders from the photographic lineup and in court as the shooter. (Vol. III, pp. 222-226, 235-239, 261). However, they also admitted that they did not see the actual shots fired. (Vol. III, p. 228-229, 235, 244, 246).

During the investigation of this case, Detective Morris obtained a video from an Ybor City security camera which captured the events of the night in question outside of Club Turbulence. (Vol. IV, pp. 262-265). Detective Morrison identified Forbes and Doland from the video for the jury. (Vol. IV, p. 268-270).

At the close of the State's case, the defense moved for a judgment of acquittal on the charge of attempted first degree murder, as well as on the lesser included offense of attempted second degree murder for which Appellant was ultimately convicted. (Vol. IV, pp. 326-328). The motion was denied. The jury found Appellant guilty of attempted second degree murder, with a firearm (discharging firearm and inflicting great bodily harm). (Vol. I, p. 80). This appeal ensued.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Appellant was convicted of an improper lesser included offense. By definition, a lesser offense must carry a lesser penalty than the charged offense. Here, Appellant was charged with attempted first degree murder. And, although he was convicted of the lesser offense of attempted second degree murder, the application of the 10-20-life statute resulted in sentence of imprisonment for a term of natural life. Thus, Appellant received the same sentence he would have received had he been convicted of the charged offense. This error mandates reversal.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

WHETHER APPELLANT'S CONVICTION FOR A LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE WAS IMPROPER AFTER THE APPLICATION OF THE 10-20-LIFE STATUTE RENDERED HIS SENTENCE THE SAME AS IF HE HAD BEEN CONVICTED AS CHARGED.

Appellant was initially charged with attempted first degree murder in violation of Section 782.04(1), Fla. Stat. However, the jury convicted him of the lesser included offense of attempted second degree murder with special findings that a firearm was discharged inflicting great bodily harm. (Vol. I, p. 80). Based upon the special findings, Section 775.087(2)(a)3, Fla. Stat., was applied to enhance Appellant's sentence to a term of natural life. Appellant submits that this sentence constituted reversible error as discussed in <u>Franklin v. State</u>, 877 So. 2d 19 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004), question certified by <u>Franklin v. State</u>, 29 Fla. L. Weekly D 1647 (Fla. 4th DCA July 14, 2004).¹

The defendant in <u>Franklin</u> was tried for attempted murder, but the jury returned a verdict finding the defendant guilty of aggravated battery while discharging a firearm and causing serious bodily injury. <u>See Franklin</u>, 877 So. 2d 19. On appeal, the Fourth District Court of Appeal reversed in

¹ This error was raised by the defense to the trial court on several occasions. Initially, the defense objected during discussions regarding jury instructions. (Vol. II, pp. 144-146). Lastly, the Motion for New Trial addressed this issue. (Vol. I, pp. 82-83, 150-152).

reliance upon <u>Ray v. State</u>, 403 So. 2d 956 (Fla. 1981), which held that a lesser included offense, by definition, must carry a lesser penalty. Consequently, the Fourth District reasoned that aggravated battery with a firearm could not be a proper lesser included offense of attempted murder where the enhancement statute, Section 775.087, Fla. Stat., resulted in the same sentence for both attempted murder and the purported lesser offense of aggravated battery. <u>See Franklin</u>, 877 So. 2d 19.

Similarly, Appellant argues that it was improper for him to be sentenced to a term of natural life after being convicted of the lesser included offense of attempted second degree murder. Simply put, an offense is not a "lesser" if it carries the same penalty as the greater offense. <u>See State v. Carpenter</u>, 417 So. 2d 986 (Fla. 1982); <u>State v. Weller</u>, 590 So. 2d 923 (Fla. 1991); <u>Nurse v. State</u>, 658 So. 2d 1074 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995).

In <u>Greene v. State</u>, 714 So. 2d 554 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998), the Second District discussed the related issue of whether the level or degree of an offense can impact whether an offense is a proper lesser offense. In dicta, the Second District specifically noted, "'lesser' is usually determined by comparing the potential punishments for the offenses rather than their descriptive 'degrees.'" <u>See Greene</u>, 714 So. 2d 554, 557. Thus, where the 10-20-Life statute subjected Appellant to the same penalty for both the charged greater offense of attempted first degree murder and the found lesser offense of attempted second degree murder, reversible error occurred.

However, the Second District, in this case, took another view. Basically, the Second District declined to require that a lesser offense carry a lesser penalty simply because sentencing has become complex. <u>See</u> <u>Sanders</u>, 912 So. 2d 1286. In other words, Appellant must remain in prison for life following a conviction for a lesser included offense because it would be too difficult to require trial judges to "...devise verdict forms that always guarantee a defendant will receive a lesser penalty for each successive option on the verdict form." <u>See id</u>. Respectfully, Appellant disagrees with this reasoning.

The complexity of the sentencing process should have no bearing on whether courts continue to rely on the "degree and penalty test" applied by this Court in determining fundamental error in sentencing. <u>See Nesbitt v.</u> <u>State</u>, 889 So. 2d 801, 802-803 (Fla. 2004), citing <u>Ray</u>, 403 So. 2d at 961. Here, Appellant was convicted of an offense which was not lesser in penalty than the charged offense. This is a simple concept. So simple, in fact, that juries need not be instructed on the potential penalties in order to realize that a lesser offense must carry a lesser penalty, but rather may rely on their common sense.

xii

In an attempt to pay service to this "degree and penalty" test, the Second District distinguished the instant case from the facts in Franklin. Initially, the Second District assumed the verdict form in Franklin must have "unquestionably listed the lesser offenses in an order that was not descending in penalty." See Sanders, 912 So. 2d 1286. Relying on this assumption (despite the Second District's admission that it had not seen the actual verdict form used in Franklin), the Court found the verdict form in the instant case to be proper because the lesser offenses were listed in an "order that [gave] the trial court discretion to impose a sentence that [was] less severe than the preceding option on the verdict form." See id. Thus, in disagreeing with the Fourth District in Franklin, the Second District held it to be "...permissible for the trial court to place lesser offenses on the verdict form in an order that generally gives the trial court the discretion to impose a lesser penalty, even if that order also gives the trial court the discretion to impose an equal or greater penalty." See id.

In upholding Appellant's conviction and sentence, the Second District admitted their ruling was in error if this Court intends that <u>Ray</u> and <u>Nesbitt</u> limit lesser offenses only to those offenses that are guaranteed to result in a lesser penalty. <u>See id</u>. Based upon the precedent of this Court, Appellant submits that the ruling of the Second District in this matter was in error. Reversal is warranted.

CONCLUSION

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