#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TERRY P. SANDERS,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. SC05-2115

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM
THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL
STATE OF FLORIDA

#### MERITS BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS Chief-Assistant Attorney General Bureau Chief, Tampa Criminal Appeals Florida Bar No. 238538

C. SUZANNE BECHARD
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 147745
Concourse Center 4
3507 E. Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
(813)287-7900
Fax (813)281-5500

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should answer the question posed by the Second District in the negative. Under this Court's precedent, and considering the jury's pardon power and the advent of modern day sentencing schemes, in order for an offense to be a lesser included offense, it need not necessarily result in a lesser penalty than either the penalty for the main offense or the next greater offense on the verdict form.

This Court's decision in Ray addressed a fundamental error analysis to be used when the trial court has, without objection, instructed the jury on a lesser offense that is neither necessarily nor permissively lesser included in the charged offense. Under the fundamental error analysis set forth in Ray for that particular circumstance, the instruction on the improper lesser offense will not be deemed fundamental error if (1) the improperly charged offense is lesser in degree and penalty than the main offense, or (2) defense counsel requested the improper charge and relied on it. This fundamental error test in Ray recognizes a defendant's due process right to be placed on notice of the specific charge against him.

Any due process concern disappears where the lesser offense is either a necessary or permissive lesser included offense of

the charged offense. Where, as here, the defendant's due process rights have not been implicated, the other analysis discussed in Ray applies: the conviction for either a necessary or permissive lesser included offense is appropriate where the lesser penalty is either lesser in degree "or one subject to a lesser penalty." Ray, 403 So. 2d at 961 (emphasis added).

In the context of reclassification and enhancement statutes, such as 10-20-LIFE, this Court should adopt the reasoning of the Second District in this case and hold that where a reclassification statute dictates that the offense of conviction is reclassified to an offense level equal to or greater than a higher offense listed on the verdict form, conviction on the lesser offense will be permissible so long as the trial court has discretion to impose a lesser penalty then the offenses listed higher on the verdict form.

Alternatively, this Court should rule that courts must examine a crime and its lesser included offenses in the abstract, without regard to any reclassification or enhancement of which a defendant may have been found guilty, in determining whether a conviction on a lesser included offense is proper.

#### **ARGUMENT**

IN ORDER FOR AN OFFENSE TO BE A LESSER-INCLUDED OFFENSE, MUST IT NECESSARILY RESULT IN A LESSER PENALTY THAN EITHER THE PENALTY FOR THE MAIN OFFENSE OR THE NEXT GREATER OFFENSE ON THE VERDICT FORM?

Petitioner asserts that he was convicted of an "improper lesser included offense." He argues that a lesser offense must carry a lesser penalty than the charged offense, and that his sentence under §775.087(2)(a)3, Florida Statutes (2002), ("10-20-LIFE") improperly "resulted1 in a term of natural life." Petitioner complains that this life sentence was the same sentence he would have received had he been convicted of the main charged offense, and therefore it could not be a "lesser" offense.

# Jurisdiction

Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(v), provides the jurisdiction of this Court may be invoked to pass upon a question certified to be of great public importance.

# Standard of Review

Ordinarily, the trial court's decision on the giving or

<sup>1</sup> In fact, the trial court had discretion to sentence Petitioner to 25 years up to life under 10-20-LIFE. A life sentence was not mandatory, as Petitioner's argument would make it seem.

withholding of a specific jury instruction is reviewed for abuse of discretion. See, e.g., James v. State, 695 so. 2d 1229, 1236 (Fla. 1997) (noting that a trial court has wide discretion in instructing the jury). Petitioner complained that the trial court should never have instructed the jury on attempted seconddegree murder as a lesser included offense of attempted first degree murder because it was not truly "lesser" where he did not receive a "lesser" penalty. This argument was not presented in the trial court, where Petitioner approved the instruction on attempted second-degree murder as a lesser included offense, and his motion for new trial t.hat. merely argued in t.he reclassification and enhancement of his offense under 10-20-LIFE violated double jeopardy. Therefore, the district court properly reviewed the issue under the fundamental error standard of review. See F.B. v. State, 852 so. 2d 226, 229 (Fla. 2003)(ruling that the "sole exception to the contemporaneous objection rule applies where the error is fundamental"; and "an error is deemed fundamental when it goes to the foundation of the case or the merits of the cause of action and is equivalent to a denial of due process")(internal citation omitted).

# The Certified Question Should Be Answered In The Negative

The Second District posed the question, "In order for an offense to be a lesser-included offense, must it necessarily

result in a lesser penalty than either the penalty for the main offense or the next greater offense on the verdict form?"

<u>Sanders</u>, 912 so. 2d at 1291 (emphasis added). This Court should answer the question in the negative.

# The Second District's Analysis

Petitioner was charged with attempted first-degree murder while discharging a firearm and causing great bodily harm. He was convicted of attempted second-degree murder and the jury made a specific finding that Petitioner discharged a firearm and caused great bodily harm. He relied on Franklin v. State, 877 So. 2d 19 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2004), and Ray v. State, 403 So. 2d 956 (Fla. 1981), to support his argument on appeal that it was error to list attempted second-degree murder while discharging a firearm and inflicting great bodily harm on the verdict form as a lesser offense because he received a sentence that was the same as the sentence he could have received for the main offense, and that it was actually longer than the sentence he could have received for one or more of the "greater" offenses on the verdict form.

Petitioner argued in the district court, as he does here, that the lesser included offense of which he was convicted was not a true "lesser" offense because the penalty imposed - life

imprisonment - was not less than the penalty for the main offense with which he was charged. The district court pointed out that Petitioner's "penalty is actually greater than the penalty he might have received if the jury had selected option D2 [attempted first-degree murder without the use of a firearm], rather than option E on the verdict form [attempted seconddegree murder by discharging a firearm and causing great bodily harm, the charge of which Petitioner was convicted]." Sanders, 912 So. 2d at 1288. The district court went on to analyze Franklin, 877 So. 2d at 19, noting that the opinion did not explain in detail the verdict form used at trial, but that it was possible to glean from the outcome that if the choices were laid out in a similar fashion to the instant case, the verdict form listed "the varieties of attempted second degree murder" ending with attempted second-degree murder without a firearm (a second-degree felony), then listed the "lesser" offense of aggravated battery while discharging a firearm and causing great bodily harm (a first-degree felony). Id.

The Second District went on to state that the  $\underline{Franklin}$  court focused on the argument that the reclassified form of aggravated

<sup>2</sup> The district court's opinion includes an appendix containing the verdict form used at Petitioner's trial. <u>Sanders</u>, 912 So. 2d at 1291-93.

battery does not carry a lesser punishment than attempted second-degree murder while discharging a firearm and inflicting great bodily harm. <u>Id.</u>, at 1289. "Attempted second degree murder is actually a lesser offense, both in degree and sentence, than aggravated battery once aggravated battery has been reclassified due to the firearm. Thus, Franklin's jury appears to have been given a verdict form that unquestionably listed the lesser offenses in an order that was not descending in penalty." Id. (Emphasis added).

In Petitioner's case, the trial court did not instruct on aggravated battery in any form because it concluded that it was not a lesser offense and that instructing on it would give the State "two bites at the apple." "The offenses listed on Mr. Sanders' verdict form began with life felonies and ended with a third-degree felony. The offenses were not listed in an order that guaranteed that the trial court must impose a lesser penalty, but if one considers all the various sentencing schemes, they are listed in an order that does give the trial court discretion to impose a sentence that is less severe than the preceding option on the verdict form." Sanders, 912 So. 2d at 1289 (emphasis added).

The Second District pointed out that <u>Ray</u>, 403 So. 2d at 956, on which the <u>Franklin</u> court relied in reaching its decision,

involved an offense that was not a lesser offense because its substantive elements did not permit it to be either a necessary or permissive lesser offense. <u>Sanders</u>, 912 So. 2d at 1289-90. In that context, this Court held in <u>Ray</u> that an erroneous lesser included charge will not be considered fundamental error if: (1) the improperly charged offense is lesser in degree and penalty than the main offense, or (2) defense counsel requested the improper charge or relied on that charge as evidenced by argument to the jury or other affirmative action. <u>Id.</u>, at 1290; Ray, 403 So. 2d at 961.

The Second District held:

We conclude that the offenses listed on the verdict form were all appropriate lesser offenses of the main charge and that the order in which they were listed was also This is not a situation like appropriate. Franklin in which a "lesser" offense was actually greater in degree and punishment than the offense that immediately preceded it on the verdict form, and the same both in degree and punishment than the main offense charged. Especially in the absence of any objection, we conclude that it permissible for the trial court to place lesser offenses on the verdict form in an order that generally gives the trial court the discretion to impose a lesser penalty, even if that order also gives the trial court the discretion to impose an equal or greater penalty.

Sanders, 912 So. 2d at 1289 (emphasis added).

#### Franklin Misinterpreted Ray

The decision of the Fourth District Court in <u>Franklin</u> misapplies this Court's holding in <u>Ray</u>. Therefore, Petitioner's reliance on <u>Franklin</u> is misplaced. In reaching its conclusion, the Fourth District claimed it was following the reasoning of this Court in <u>Ray v. State</u>, 403 So. 2d 956 (Fla. 1981), where, the <u>Franklin</u> court said, this Court held that a lesser included offense is by definition an offense which carries a lesser penalty. <u>Franklin</u>, 877 So. 2d at 20. However, the majority of the Fourth District Court panel misapprehended the law as set forth in Ray.

The issue before this Court in Ray was whether it was fundamental error to convict a defendant under an erroneous lesser included offense when he had the opportunity to object. Ray, 403 So. 2d at 958. This Court began its opinion by saying, "To dispose of this case, we must first determine whether committing a lewd and lascivious act on a minor under the age of fourteen is a lesser included offense of sexual battery of a person over the age of eleven." Id., at 959. After considering – and rejecting – the idea that the crime might be either necessarily or permissively included as a lesser offense of the charged crime, this Court stated, "It is also not 'lesser' because both section 794.011(5) and section 800.04 are second degree felonies." Id. This Court ruled, "If the instant

complained-of instruction had been a permissible lesser included offense, i.e., a crime of lesser degree <u>or</u> one subject to a lesser penalty or had been includable under category 3 or 4 of <u>Brown [v.State</u>, 206 So. 2d 377 (Fla. 1968)]3, the district court would have been correct in affirming the conviction." <u>Id.</u>, at 961 (emphasis added).

Thus, the language this Court used in Ray cannot in any reasonable way be taken to mean that every permissible lesser included offense must, by definition, be one in which a defendant is subject to a lesser penalty. Id. In fact, in very clear language - by the use of the disjunctive "or" - this Court said that while a crime of lesser penalty might be one type of permissible lesser included offense, another type of crime was equally suitable as a lesser included offense: "a crime of lesser degree." Id.

Respondent acknowledges that the  $\underline{Ray}$  opinion immediately goes on the state that it is not fundamental error to instruct

<sup>3</sup> In <u>In re Standard Jury Instructions (Criminal Cases)</u>, 431 So. 2d 594, 596 (Fla. 1981), this Court consolidated the four categories of lesser included offenses delineated in <u>Brown</u> into (1) offenses necessarily included in the offense charged, which will include some lesser degrees of offenses; and (2) offenses which may or may not be included in the offense charged, which will include all attempts and some lesser degrees of offenses.

on the improper lesser offense if the "improperly charged offense is lesser in degree <u>and</u> penalty than the main offense."

Id. (Emphasis added). However, this use of the conjunctive was in the context of this Court's ruling on the fundamental error analysis to be used when a lesser offense was incorrectly charged to the jury that, by its substantive elements, was neither a necessary nor permissive lesser included offense. Id.

The problem with Ray's conviction was not that he was convicted of an otherwise appropriate lesser included offense that was not lesser in penalty than the charged offense, as Petitioner bemoans here. The problem with Ray's conviction was that he was convicted of a crime that was neither lesser in degree nor a permissible lesser included offense of the charged This Court in Ray clearly stated that Ray's Id. conviction would have been properly affirmed on appeal if it had been a viable necessary or permissive lesser included offense and had been either lesser in degree "or one subject to a lesser penalty." Id. (Emphasis added). In other words, if Ray had been charged with crime A (a first-degree felony), and the trial judge had instructed Ray's jury on the necessarily lesser included offense of crime B (a second-degree felony), Ray's conviction for crime B would have been affirmed even if Ray had received the same sentence for crime B that he could have

received for crime A. Ray, 403 So. 2d at 961.

The problem with convicting an accused of a crime that is neither a necessary nor a permissive lesser included offense, as happened in Ray, is that the defendant's due process rights are See Cole v. Arkansas, 333 U.S. 196 (1948)("No implicated. principle of procedural due process is more clearly established than that notice of the specific charge, and a chance to be heard in a trial of the issues raised by that charge, if desired, are among the constitutional rights of every accused in a criminal proceeding in all courts, state or federal."). This due process concern - lack of notice of the specific charge vanishes when an accused is not convicted of a crime that is neither a necessary nor a permissive lesser included offense, as happened in Petitioner's case. To state it plainly, Petitioner was convicted of a necessary lesser included offense; therefore, he had notice of the specific charge.

In <u>Nesbitt v. State</u>, 889 So. 2d 801 (Fla. 2004), the defendant was charged, *inter alia*, with attempted second-degree murder with a weapon. By agreement of both the prosecution and the defense, Nesbitt's jury was instructed on aggravated assault with a deadly weapon as a lesser offense, and Nesbitt was ultimately convicted of that crime. <u>Id.</u>, at 802-03. On review, this Court determined that aggravated assault with a deadly

weapon was not a permissive lesser included offense of attempted second-degree murder with a weapon where the element of "intentionally or knowingly caus[ing] great bodily harm" was not alleged in the charging document. Id., at 802.

Therefore, Nesbitt faced the same problem Ray faced: he was convicted of an offense which by its substantive elements could not be a lesser included offense of the charged crime. Nesbitt's conviction raised the specter of a due process violation, See Cole, 333 U.S. at 196, this Court analyzed whether his conviction constituted fundamental error under Ray. Under Ray, Nesbitt's conviction for the improper lesser offense would not be a violation of due process, and thus not fundamental error, if: "(1) the improperly charged offense is lesser in degree and penalty than the main offense, or (2) defense counsel requested the improper charge or relied on it." Nesbitt, 889 So. 2d at 803, citing, Ray, 403 So. 2d at 961. This Court concluded that Nesbitt's conviction for aggravated assault met the first alternative under the Ray fundamental error test; that is, attempted second-degree murder with a weapon is a first-degree felony punishable by up to thirty years in prison, and aggravated assault is a third-degree felony punishable by up to five years in prison.

The Nesbitt decision is another example of a circumstance

when Ray's fundamental error analysis (i.e., the determination of whether the defendant had been denied due process) came into play. As previously stated, when the accused has been convicted of an offense which was either a proper necessary or permissive lesser included offense, as happened in Petitioner's case, the due process concern which gave rise to the fundamental error analysis announced in Ray and utilized again in Nesbitt disappears. When the defendant's due process rights have not been implicated, the other analysis discussed in Ray applies: the conviction for either a necessary or permissive lesser included offense is appropriate where the lesser offense is either lesser in degree "or one subject to a lesser penalty." Ray, 403 So. 2d at 961.

At least one other district court of appeal weighed in on the issue, and published an opinion which provides some guidance. In <u>S.L.S. v. State</u>, 404 So. 2d 1105 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1981), the juvenile was charged with sexual battery on a person eleven years of age or younger; however, the trial court granted the juvenile's motion for judgment of acquittal at the close of the State's case, and the cause proceeded on the offense of attempted sexual battery. At the close of all the evidence, the trial court, over the juvenile's objection, adjudicated the juvenile delinquent for the offense of lewd, lascivious or

indecent assault. <u>Id.</u> On appeal, S.L.S. argued he was adjudicated delinquent for an improper lesser offense. <u>Id.</u> The First District first noted that the offense on which the juvenile was adjudicated was, in today's parlance, a permissive lesser included offense to the charged crime. <u>Id.</u> The court rejected the idea that in order for an offense to be considered lesser, there is a requirement that it be one subject to a lesser penalty. <u>Id.</u> In so doing, the First District held, "We do not view <u>Ray</u> as imposing an absolute requirement that in order to be a proper lesser included offense. . . the offense must be one subject to a lesser penalty." Id., at 1106.

In sum, the Fourth District in <u>Franklin</u> misinterpreted this Court's ruling in <u>Ray</u>; therefore, Petitioner's reliance on the <u>Franklin</u> court's reasoning is misplaced. <u>Nesbitt</u> does not advance Petitioner's cause because it dealt with the fundamental error analysis announced in <u>Ray</u> and not the alternative analysis provided, which is applicable to Petitioner's case. When the defendant has been convicted of a proper necessary or permissive lesser included offense, the other analysis discussed in <u>Ray</u> applies: the conviction for either a necessary or permissive lesser included offense is appropriate where the lesser offense is either lesser in degree "or one subject to a lesser penalty." <u>Ray</u>, 403 So. 2d at 961. (Emphasis added).

# Lesser Included Offenses In the Context of Reclassification and Enhancement Statutes

Answering the Second District's certified question in the negative would continue to allow for the jury "pardon." A look at the case law involving lesser included offenses in the context of reclassification and enhancement statutes supports this argument.

In <u>Miller v. State</u>, 438 So. 2d 83 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983), approved, 460 So. 2d 373 (Fla. 1984), the defendant was charged with second-degree murder with a handgun, and the jury returned a verdict of guilty on the lesser included offense of attempted second-degree murder. The court ruled that the offense at conviction was lesser included in spite of the fact that, because of the existing enhancement statute, the trial court reclassified the attempted second-degree murder from a second-degree to a first-degree felony and sentenced the defendant to twenty years in prison, five years more than the maximum sentence he would have received for the lesser included offense minus the enhancement. <u>Miller</u>, 438 So. 2d at 84. This Court agreed with the Fourth District that the reclassification provisions apply to offenses "impliedly charged" as lesser included offenses. Miller, 460 So. 2d at 374.

In Rivers v. State, 425 So. 2d 101, 105 (Fla.  $1^{\rm st}$  DCA 1982), the defendant, who was charged with robbery with a firearm,

alleged the trial court erred in refusing to give a jury instruction on the lesser included offenses of robbery with a deadly weapon and robbery with a weapon. The defendant stipulated at trial that he entered a store and committed the robbery with a shotgun. Id. In upholding the trial court's refusal to give the requested instructions, the First District opined, "There was no evidence upon which to base a finding that the shotgun was not a firearm. Robbery with a deadly weapon and robbery with a weapon carry the same penalty as the offense charged. Each offense is a felony of the first degree. No offense is deemed to be a lesser offense if it carries the same penalty as the crime under consideration." Rivers, 425 So. 2d at 105. (Internal citation omitted).

Significantly, however, when this Court was invited to join in similar reasoning as that set forth in <a href="Rivers">Rivers</a>, it declined to do so. In <a href="State v. Weller">State v. Weller</a>, 590 So. 2d 923, 927 (Fla. 1991), the defendant was charged with two first-degree felonies, trafficking in 400 grams or more of cocaine, and conspiracy to traffic in 400 grams or more of cocaine. At trial, the defendant requested instructions on lesser included offenses, including the first-degree felony of conspiracy to traffic in cocaine in amounts less than 400 grams but more than 200 grams (which carried a minimum mandatory sentence of five years), and

the first-degree felony of conspiracy to traffic in cocaine in amounts less than 200 grams but more than 28 grams (which carried a minimum mandatory sentence of three years). <u>Id.</u> The trial court denied the defendant's request, and the Fourth District reversed based on the failure to give the requested instructions. <u>Weller v. State</u>, 501 so. 2d 1291 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1986).

On review, this Court admitted that "at first blush," it would be inclined to agree with the trial court and hold that two trafficking offenses were not lesser included offenses of the conspiracy offense since all of them were first-degree felonies and the Court had previously stated that offenses were not "lesser" if they carried the same penalty. Weller, 590 So. 2d at 927, citing, State v. Carpenter, 417 So. 2d 986 (Fla. 1982). However, this Court in Weller opined that in spite of their shared status as first-degree felonies, two of the three offenses were lesser included because they carried different minimum penalties. Id.

In <u>State v. Estevez</u>, 753 So. 2d 1, 4 (Fla. 1999), this Court stated that while a statute might limit a trial judge in sentencing once a specific conviction is secured, "none of its provisions obviates the jury's inherent power to 'pardon' a defendant by convicting the defendant of a lesser offense."

Unquestionably, the issue in this case would not have arisen without the imposition of 10-20-LIFE to Petitioner's sentence. Judge Stone's dissent in <a href="Franklin">Franklin</a> addressed the jury's inherent "pardon" power in the context of the operation of an enhancement statute:

The jury was given the option of finding Franklin guilty of attempted second-degree with a firearm (with murder special additional findings as to discharge and injury), or lessers that included attempted second-degree murder or aggravated battery with a firearm (with special additional findings to be made as to whether a firearm was discharged and whether great bodily harm inflicted). The jury could have determined that the offense was committed without discharge or without great bodily harm.

Franklin, 877 So. 2d at 21 (Stone, J. dissenting).

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